
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 8 October 2021 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Monday, 18 October 2021 
beginning at 

7:00 pm 
in the 

Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, Eastleigh SO50 9PG 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor David Airey 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 September 2021. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following 
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
midday on Friday 15 October 2021. Please let us know if you wish to attend the 
meeting in person so that we can manage numbers.  We encourage those 
attending to wear a mask and take a test to ensure that they are not at risk of 
infecting anyone with Covid-19. 
 

5.   Recommendation from Committees  
 

6.   Town Centre Principles (Pages 7 - 30) 
 

7.   Corporate Enforcement Strategy (Pages 31 - 50) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 25 November 2021 at 7:00 pm 
In the Oak Suite, Holiday Inn, Leigh Rd, 

Eastleigh SO50 9PG 
 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

CABINET 
 

Monday, 13 September 2021  (7:00 pm – 7:07 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Bicknell, Airey, Corben, Craig and 
Kyrle 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Pretty 
 

________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

46. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion.  
 

47. COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees. 
 

48. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY 
 
Issue 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to administer disabled facilities grants 
(DFGs) to pay for adaptations that will allow residents to remain living in 
their homes for longer. For adults, this is means tested. The Council is 
required to have a policy on how grants (and other financial assistance) 
are provided and as the current policy was approved in 2014, it is now due 
for review. (Paper 6) 
 
Consideration 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to deliver DFGs. These grants are given 
to provide adaptations that fall within one of 11 specified categories to 
allow disabled or elderly residents to remain living safely in their own 
homes. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Cabinet notes the changes and approves the updated Public 
Sector Housing (PSH) Financial Assistance Policy. 
 

49. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
 
Issue 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

The proposed penalty charging structures and statement of principles 
contained within the Private Sector Housing (PSH) Enforcement Policy 
outlines when and how penalty charges will be utilised in the execution of 
the Council’s statutory duty. 
 
It is intended to bring in the provisions made available to the Council that 
have previously been overlooked. It ensures the ability of the Council to 
meet its statutory obligations and transparency around the use of these 
powers and penalty charges that may be issued. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration 
 
There is a statutory duty placed on the Council under the Smoke and 
Carbon Monoxide Alarms (England) Regulations 2015 to issue a remedial 
notice where it is satisfied a landlord is failing, or has failed, to comply with 
one or more of the regulations, and to undertake remedial action 
themselves if the landlord does not comply with any notice served. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) adopt the Energy Act 2011 and so by doing, also the Energy 
Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and Wales) 
Regulations 2015 (as amended) made under it; 

(2) adopt the Energy Act 2013 and so by doing, also the Smoke 
and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 made 
under it; 

(3) adopt the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 and so 
by doing, also the Redress Schemes for Letting Agency Work 
and Property Management Work (requirement to belong to a 
scheme etc.) (England) Order 2014 made under it; 

(4) delegate to the Executive Head of Health and Wellbeing all 
powers under the Energy Act 2011, Energy Act 2013 and the 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 and subsequent 
regulations and authorise the Executive Head of Health and 
Wellbeing to delegate the discharge of those powers to 
Specialists of suitable experience, competency, and seniority; 

(5) approve the penalty charging structures in appendix 1 
(appendix 5 of the policy) which is proposed to be used for any 
charges issued under the above pieces of legislation; and 

(6) authorise that the annual review and any minor amendments to 
be made to the matrix be delegated to the relevant Portfolio 
Lead and the Executive Head of Health and Wellbeing. 

 
50. SUITABLE ALTERNATIVE NATURAL GREEN SPACE POLICY 

 
Issue 
 

4



3 
 

Increased development leads to a number of environmental and other 
impacts which need to be mitigated to minimise harm. One of these 
impacts is from recreational pressures causing erosion and disturbance on 
the Solent and the New Forest Special Protection Area (SPA) and Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC). (Paper 8) 
 
Consideration 
 
Although Eastleigh Borough Council does not border the New Forest 
National Park there is evidence that residents of the Borough choose to 
visit the area from time to time and thus contribute towards erosion of the 
internationally important habitats and disturbance of the species they 
support. This evidence has been reinforced by technical research which 
has been commissioned by the local authorities in and around the New 
Forest. As a result of this new evidence, without suitable mitigation Natural 
England has advised that increased recreational impacts from the growth 
in resident numbers within the Borough are likely to have significant 
adverse effects on the protected sites and species and will maintain an 
objection to all new dwellings proposed within the Borough until 
appropriate and satisfactory mitigation is agreed. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves in principle the development of a package of 
mitigation measures, including creating areas of Suitable Alternative 
Natural Green Space (SANG) and providing financial contributions 
towards the management of visitor pressures to assist in the 
mitigation of the impacts of the increasing Borough population on 
the New Forest National Park and notes that the detail will be brought 
back for approval at a later date. 
 

51. TOWN CENTRE PRINCIPLES 
 
Item 9 on the Agenda (Town Centre Principals) could not be taken due to 
a technical issue with the Agenda.  
 
It will be heard at the next Cabinet meeting on 18 October 2021. 
 

52. MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT 
 
Issue 
 
The statement for 2020/21, sets out what steps the Council has taken, and 
will be taking, to ensure that modern slavery is not occurring within the 
Council and in our supply chains. It also addresses the partnership role 
that the Council has within the Borough. (Paper 10) 
 
Consideration 
 

5



4 
 

Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to eradicating modern slavery and 
aims to eliminate the impact on people in the Borough. 
 
Pursuant to Section 54, Part 6 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 Eastleigh 
Borough Council is producing a slavery and human trafficking statement 
each financial year. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) approves the appended Modern Slavery Statement; and 
 2)  agrees that a signed copy is displayed on the Council's 

website  and the Home Office Modern Slavery Statement 
Registry. 

 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

53. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.  
 

54. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 
M6852 
 
 

6



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Monday, 18 October 2021  

GUIDING REGENERATION PRINCIPLES FOR EASTLEIGH TOWN 
CENTRE 

Report of the Corporate Director 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that ELAC: 
 
(1) Consider the Guiding Regeneration Principles document – Together we make 

Eastleigh, at Appendix 1 and recommend for adoption by Cabinet at the 
meeting on the 24 June 2021 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) Approve the Guiding Regeneration Principles document – Together we make 
Eastleigh, at Appendix 1 

 

Summary 
 
The Guiding Regeneration Principles document captures the key themes that together will 
guide the regeneration of Eastleigh town centre as we recover from the pandemic.  It aims 
to give strategic direction to delivery in the short to medium term, and frame more detailed 
discussions with stakeholders about how we collectively shape Eastleigh in the future.   

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to the Prosperous Place Corporate Objective - 
Reinvigorating town and local centres - Creating vibrant, active places where 
people want to spend time, generating the right environment for economic, 
social, and cultural prosperity.   

 
2. Led by the Cabinet Member for Economy, town and local centres are 

considered a cross-cutting issue that relates to all the Corporate Plan 2015-
2025 objectives. 

7

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Introduction 

3. Our towns and local centres have been changing gradually for some time, due 
to competition from both online and out-of-town retail and leisure offers which 
has led to the slow decline of the retail sector.  

 

4. The pandemic, and the social distancing restrictions imposed by the 
Government, have further impacted our Local Centres and the businesses 
within them. The pandemic has accelerated existing trends to the extent that 
footfall has decreased (50%-60% during lockdown in Eastleigh), shopping 
online has increased (nationally 20% to 33.8% sales by the end of the 2nd 
lockdown), and occupancy levels have fallen (93% to 89% in Eastleigh town 
centre, excluding charity shops, since February 2020). 
 

5. The Council is committed to the economic recovery of our towns and local 
centres, already making use of the Government’s Re-opening High Streets 
Safely (RHSS) Fund to support the safe reopening of our ‘High Streets’ and 
prepare action plans to support the economic recovery across all six of the 
Borough’s town and local centres.   
 

6. Research conducted by the RHSS team tells us that, of the six main retail 
areas looked at across the Borough, Eastleigh town centre has had the 
largest increase in the number of vacant units during the pandemic. This is not 
surprising given it is the largest retail area and the one with the highest 
proportion of retail chains, which have struggled in the last 15 months. This 
reflects the national picture.  Local centres with higher numbers of 
independent businesses have fared better.   
 

7. As Covid restrictions begin to lift there is still a great deal of uncertainty.  We 
don’t yet know the full impact of the pandemic in terms of; the future need for 
office accommodation, the emerging relationship between bricks and mortar 
and online retail, and what will underpin the ‘High Street’ offer since the 
decline of the retail sector, but early intelligence points at flexibility and mixed 
uses being key to creating a sustainable town centre.  Many aspects of our 
‘High Streets’ are still evolving, and all in the context of a Climate Emergency.  
 

8. The regeneration of Eastleigh town centre is an important priority for the 
Council, who for many years have been acquiring property assets, 
redeveloping sites, and undertaking extensive public realm improvements to 
stimulate market-led regeneration. Recent examples include Fanfare Place / 
Bandstand Court on Romsey Road and the former Post Office site on the 
High Street.  These mixed-use developments aim to bring new residents into 
the town along with purpose-built commercial units.  
 

9. Councillors recognise the need to re-think the strategic positioning of 
Eastleigh town centre and ensure there is clear strategic direction for the 
future. There is support at both a Cabinet and Local Area level to reclaim the 
‘High Street’ as a destination that serves our communities as a place to live, 
work, socialise, and access public services and cultural activities.  

 

8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Guiding Regeneration Principles 

10. The Prosperous Place Corporate Strategy 2018 sets out that ‘national issues 
manifest themselves differently at a local level and retaining local 
distinctiveness between communities is a priority for the Council, strategic 
approaches for each of our towns and local centres will be set out in their own 
strategy documents’. 

11. Through consultation with staff from across the organisation, the Strategic 
Planning Team has drafted a set of eight ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’. 
These were presented to ELAC Councillors and relevant Cabinet Members at 
an internal workshop for discussion and comment on the 4 March 2021.  
Feedback has been collated and the amended version of the document can 
be seen in Appendix 1.   

12. The proposed ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles – Together we make 
Eastleigh’ are overarching principles to guide the regeneration of Eastleigh 
town centre.  They form the foundation for strategic planning and future policy 
development and aim to frame more detailed discussions with stakeholders 
about how we collectively shape Eastleigh town centre in the future.  

13. The eight Guiding Regeneration Principles work together to ensure Eastleigh 
develops a strong identity - is locally distinct, sustainable and resilient for the 
future; 

Principle 1 A great place to live 

Principle 2  A great place to do business 

Principle 3 A green town  

Principle 4  Meeting the needs of its communities 

Principle 5  Well-connected and accessible 

Principle 6  A place you want to spend time 

Principle 7  A distinct town  

Principle 8  Strong leadership and effective partnerships 

14. A more detailed summary of each principle can be found in Appendix 1.  The 
‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’ set out a high-level vision statement for 
each key theme. It is anticipated that as we move forward, Council delivery 
across the town will reflect these eight themes, which will serve to move us 
closer to these proposed vision statements. 

15. The essence of the principles is that ‘Together we make Eastleigh’ and it is 
anticipated that the Guiding Regeneration Principles will be the basis on 
which we engage with partners about the future of the town following further 
work with Councillors and Council staff to identify priorities and actions.   

9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Financial Implications 

16. There are currently no financial implications as the matters are policy 
procedural matters only.  

Risk Assessment 

17. The risk of not adopting a more strategic approach is that Eastleigh town 
centre will become a less attractive destination, and less competitive to 
comparable local centres in the region.  It will fail to attract external funding 
and investment and will not be able to meet the needs of its communities.  
Adopting a more strategic approach and focusing delivery across these eight 
key themes will result in a greater sense of direction and improved strategic, 
programme and service planning in the longer term. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

18. Town centres, by their very nature, need to be inclusive places and the 
importance of this is picked up within the ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’ 
document, in particular Principle 4 - A town that meets the needs of its 
communities. The town already promotes inclusion in a variety of ways: good 
accessibility due to flat topography, seating, pedestrian areas and disabled 
parking; Safer Places and Breastfeeding welcome initiatives; annual Mela and 
Pride events.  The Council wants to build on this approach and will work with 
local community groups to understand how we can make the town more 
inclusive.  In addition, Equality Impact Assessments will be completed prior to 
the commencement of relevant delivery activities.   

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

20 A Climate change report is not relevant at this stage as the report deals with 
policy procedural matters only and does not directly lead to an increase of 
Greenhouse Gas/CO2, damage ecology or the environment. 

 
21 ‘Guiding Regeneration Principle 3 – ‘A green town’ aims to support adaptation 

to climate change; protect the environment and promote environmental 
resilience for Eastleigh town centre. We will be seeking to work with residents 
and businesses to change behaviours in a positive way.  Climate change 
reports will be provided at point of delivery. 
 

Conclusion 

22 Eastleigh town centre has been significantly impacted by both changes in 
consumer behaviour over many years, and the pandemic.  Councillors at 
Cabinet and a Local Area level recognise the need to strategically reposition 
the town.  It is recommended that the ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles – 
Together we make Eastleigh’, as set out in Appendix 1, are approved by 
Councillors, and used as a starting point to shape and guide the future 
regeneration of Eastleigh town centre. 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

NATALIE WIGMAN 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 

 
Date: 25 May 2021 
Contact Officer: Joanne Calcutt 
Tel No: 023 80 688822 
e-mail: joanne.calcutt@eastleigh.gov.uk     
Appendices Attached: 1 – Together We Make Eastleigh  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 
 

11

mailto:joanne.calcutt@eastleigh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Together 
we make 
Eastleigh

May 2021

1

13



Contents

Context

1. Introduction 

2. Purpose of this document

3. ‘Reopening the High Street safely’ survey findings

4. The local picture

5. Challenges

6. Opportunities

Principles for regeneration 

7. The principles

• Principle 1 A great place to live

• Principle 2 A great place to do business

• Principle 3 A green town

• Principle 4 Meeting the needs of its communities

• Principle 5 Well-connected and accessible

• Principle 6 A place you want to spend time

• Principle 7 A distinct town

• Principle 8 Strong leadership and effective partnerships

2

14



1.Introduction

Gradual decline of the retail sector and changes in consumer behaviour has been subtly changing our towns for many 
years.  The pandemic and the social restrictions have accelerated these changes 

The Corporate Plan 2015, the Prosperous Place Corporate Strategy 2018 and the Local Plan 2016-2036 set out the Council’s 
commitment to the regeneration of Eastleigh town centre. 

2.Purpose

The purpose of this document is to capture the key themes that together will guide the regeneration of Eastleigh as we 
recover from the pandemic.  They aim to give direction to delivery in the short to medium term, and frame more detailed 
discussions with stakeholders about how we collectively shape Eastleigh town centre in the future.  

3

15



3. Reopening the High Street Safely (RHSS) survey 
findings; 

• .
4

573 people selected Eastleigh town centre as their local high street.  
They described it as run down, empty and limited but also believe it has 
a lot of potential. 

16



• Consumers are tending to shop locally - Fewer visits, lower duration times, with higher spend per footfall ratios

• Greater commitment to small, independent, specialist retailers

• Retail Parks are performing well - higher ratio of ‘essential’ stores and click and collect provision

• Shopping online has increased - nationally 20% to 33.8% sales by the end of the 2nd lockdown

• Home working has increased - significantly impacting footfall and consumer spend in the town

• Occupancy levels have fallen - 93% to 89% in Eastleigh town centre, excluding charity shops, since February 2020

• Retail chains are disappearing – Eg Burtons, Next, Edinburgh Wool, Peacocks

4. The local picture 

5

17



• Lack of Local Authority ownership and control

• Impact of COVID 19 – loss of retail chains, loss of confidence 
and loss of footfall

• Lack of investment in/poor quality of building stock

• Strong retail presence available locally – such as Southampton, 
Hedge End retail park etc

• Strong ‘alternative offer’ available locally – such as Winchester 
and Romsey. Places that encourage dwell time with a mixed 
offer

• Beyond convenience, there is a lack of unique selling point 
currently

• Securing investment and encouraging entrepreneurs into the 
town

• Encouraging businesses to merge the benefits of physical space 
(shopping local) with digital commerce to attract new customers

• Perception of crime and antisocial behaviour, not matched by 
actual crime levels which are very low

5. Challenges

6

18



6. Opportunities

• Support communities to reconnect with each other, and the 
town, as the risk of Covid-19 reduces

• Encourage behaviour changes that reduce impact on the 
environment – Home working, shopping local, waste 
reduction, walking, cycling and public transport use

• Secure government funding

• Build on Eastleigh’s strengths; flat, compact, highly 
accessible, convenient and friendly

• Repurpose surplus retail units, create an attractive 
sustainable offer that meets the needs of our local 
community

• Create high-density mixed-use development - mixed 
tenure homes on brown field sites

• Create positive stories about Eastleigh using the culture 
programme and the feedback from the Reopening High 
Streets Safely Fund work

7

19



7. Guiding principles for regeneration

• Principle 1 A great place to live

• Principle 2 A great place to do business

• Principle 3 A green town

• Principle 4 Meeting the needs of its communities

• Principle 5 Well-connected and accessible

• Principle 6 A place you want to spend time

• Principle 7 A distinct town

• Principle 8 Strong leadership and effective partnerships

8

20



A 
distinct town

A great place 
to live

A great place 
to do 

business 

A green town

Well-
connected 

and 
accessible

A place you 
want to

spend time

Meeting the 
needs of its 

communities

7. The principles

The Regeneration Principles set out a high level vision 
statement for Eastleigh town centre.

Principles 1-6 work together to ensure Eastleigh 
develops a strong identity - is locally distinct,
sustainable and resilient for the future

9

21



Principle 1 - A great place to live

Modern homes in the heart of the town will increase life and 

activity and safety, supporting the daytime, evening, and night-

time economies.

We will attract new residents through the creation of quality urban 

living environments, that are sympathetically located within 

mixed-use developments, meeting the needs of homeowners and 

visitors alike.

We will ensure that new development and the spaces around 

them are attractive, functional and locally distinct.  

Appropriate in terms of design, scale and siting, in relation to 

existing buildings, spaces, views, natural and historic features and 

Victorian heritage.

Providing a mix of tenure, will meet a range of specifically 

identified needs,  and support the longer-term regeneration of the 

town.

Current activity in this area;

• Strategic Acquisitions (land and 
property/site assembly)

• Post Office redevelopment

• Fanfare Place

• Partnerships e.g. Hanns Way Car Park 
scheme

10

22



Principle 2 - A great place to do business

Current activity in this area;

• LSH Market feasibility report

• Reopening the High Street Safely project

• Wessex House

• Post Office Redevelopment

• Sorting Office relocation

• Environmental Health

• Hampshire House

• Fanfare Place

The recovery of our town, and access to jobs and 

employment, is vital to the health and wellbeing of our 

communities. Our reliance on digital technologies has 

increased, the town now needs to look beyond the Borough 

for new market opportunities and investment. 

We will support our businesses, and the creation of

employment space and facilities fit for, and compatible with, 

future needs and working practices, particularly those that 

promote a healthy, low carbon lifestyle. 

Working with stakeholders to; ensure Eastleigh is inclusive, in 

terms of career pathways, with available paid and voluntary 

opportunities. To create multifunctional spaces that support 

both businesses and leisure activity and improve physical 

links with the Riverside and associated employment land.  

11

23



Principle 3 - A green town

There is a need for Eastleigh to adapt to climate change and make 

the transition to a town with a positive environmental impact.  Re-

enforcing Eastleigh as a highly sustainable location with excellent 

public transport links will increase its long-term resilience and make 

it a more attractive place.

We will capitalise on the high level of environmental awareness and 

encourage green and sustainable lifestyles for visitors, residents, 

and businesses, supporting them to reduce their carbon footprint. 

We will work alongside partners to encourage the development of 

a circular/zero waste economy and reduce commercial waste. 

We will encourage the use of zero carbon construction methods, 

improve energy efficiency in existing builds, reduce water 

consumption, increase biodiversity in the form of trees and 

planting, use sustainable urban drainage in new developments and 

increase renewable energy generation.  Making Eastleigh a greener 

and more pleasant place to be.

Current activity in this area;

• Tree planting

• Recreation Ground improvements (wilding 
up)

• Seasonal planting

• Climate Change Action Plan

• Air Quality Action Plan

• Providing infrastructure such as electric 
charging points for vehicles.

12

24



Principle 4 - A town that meets the 
needs of its communities

We wish to celebrate the towns diverse demographic and 

provide the services businesses and residents need, conveniently 

located, without having to travel out of the town, to make 

Eastleigh a greener, healthier and more inclusive destination.

To enhance the town’s offer and ensure it remains relevant and 

vibrant, we will develop co-located public services, offices, 

leisure facilities and a wider cultural offer within mixed use 

development.

Focusing on development that acts as a catalyst for further 

regeneration, we will maximise opportunities to enhance the 

function of the town through careful positioning of services, 

improving accessibility and legibility, whilst making the town an 

attractive and distinct destination.

We will build resilience through the development of more 

flexible spaces that allow the town to evolve, and a mix of uses 

that support each other, as well as offering increased benefits to 

residents.

Current activity in this area;

• Public Toilet refurbishment (including 
Changing Places at Eastleigh House)

• Strategic acquisitions programme (land 
and property/site assembly)

• LSH Research – What does the market 
need?

• The Point venue
• Partnership working with;

o Hampshire Libraries service
o Hampshire Cultural Trust
o One Community
o One Public Estate
o Citizen Advice

• Parking
• Licensing

13

25



Principle 5 - Well-connected and accessible

Eastleigh town centre is by far the most accessible location in the 

Borough.  Designed around the Victorian grid system, it is well 

connected both regionally, nationally and internationally, benefiting 

from strong rail, road and air links, and access to UK ports 

We can play a part in reducing congestion and improving air quality 

by making maximising opportunities to encourage sustainable 

transport modes, particularly walking and cycling, creating landmarks 

and enhancing street legibility and local wayfinding with Green 

Infrastructure and Creative streetscape interventions

Working with residents and community transport providers to 

provide high quality services, low and ultra- low emission vehicles 

and car sharing opportunities and the messaging around this.

Digital connectivity is essential, and we will champion high-quality 

broad band provision, making it standard in our own developments, 

to support a low carbon lifestyle and make the town centre a more 

competitive place to do business.

Current activities in this area;

• Encouraging the use of Electric vehicles 
through access to vehicles (Car club) & 
installation of charging points

• Mobility hub project in the town centre

• New improved cycle route from Town 
centre to/from Southampton Airport 
Parkway (led by HCC)

• Walking and Cycling Strategy

• Post Office & Enterprise House – Improved 
connections between main streets

• Shop Mobility & Community Transport

• Town centre free WiFi

14

26



Principle 6 - A place you want to spend time

Restrictions during the pandemic, have had a severe impact on 

Eastleigh’s residents, with loneliness and isolation being felt by 

many.

It is important that Eastleigh re-establishes itself as a safe place, 

where diversity is celebrated, and new and existing communities 

can; connect, thrive and fully participate in its life and economy. 

A place with well-defined attractive routes that take you on a 

journey and spaces that are easy to navigate, characterful 

buildings with active frontages, and facilities that present 

opportunities to sit, space to chat, or play. 

A well-designed public realm functions as anchor, for further 

investment in the town. We will actively encourage the 

development of café culture and alfresco dining along with a

programme of community events and festivals to animate 

spaces, attracting visitors and encourage a sense of belonging.

Current activity in this area;

• Public realm improvements

• BAD Architects ‘Reimagining the space’ 
report and illustrations in this document

• Recreation Ground improvements

• Road closures

• Street cleansing

• Arts and Culture health and wellbeing 
programme

• Post Office redevelopment - Wells Rd 
improvements

• Pavement licenses

• CCTV review project

15

27



Without compromising the town’s profile as an 

accessible convenience town, we want to develop it as a 

destination where people want to spend time. A place that 

attracts both local visitors, and those from further afield, and for 

them all to feel connected to the town.

We will work with local creative communities across principles 1-6 

to develop a common understanding and language for what 

makes Eastleigh distinct. Building on qualities often overlooked; 

the energy of Eastleigh’s diverse communities, its industrious 

past, its unpretentiousness, it strong cultural offer and its resilient 

independent businesses to continue its story.

To create a sense of place that reflects the pride of its resident’s 

and is memorable in a positive way. Through the new homes we 

build, and spaces we create, the businesses and services we 

attract, the events and festivals we host.

Because the thing that makes Eastleigh distinct is its people.

Principle 7- A distinct town

Current activity in this area;

• RHSS consultation – what do residents 
and businesses want from their town?

• Arts & culture offer via the Point

• Partnership working with the museum

• Public realm improvements, including 
public art

• Post Office redevelopment

• Partnership working with Southampton 
on City of Culture bid 2025

16

28



Principle 8 – Strong leadership and effective 
partnerships

A successful town centre requires landlords, the Local 

Authority, trading communities and consumers to all share the 

same vision and have the right leadership and tools in place to 

make it happen.

Maintaining strong working relationships within the public and 

private sectors and the wider community will ensure residents 

and businesses engage with the vision, support the changes 

and can share in the benefits.  

Current activity in this area;

• Partnership working with Eastleigh BID

• Reopening High Streets Safely Fund

• Fanfare Place

• One Public Estate – Co-location of 
services in Council properties

• Partnership working with Hampshire 
County Council on High Street and 
Market Street and electric charging

• Partnership with the bus operators

• Relationship with landlords and agents 
in the town

17

29



18

30



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

CABINET 

18 OCTOBER 2021 

CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY 2021-2024 

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet 
 

i) approves the attached draft Strategy (Appendix 1). 
 

ii) agrees that the Chief Executive be authorised to reapprove the 
Strategy every three years and make minor amendments to the 
adopted Strategy as required. 
 

iii) agrees that approval of service specific enforcement polices be 
approved by Executive Head of relevant services in consultation with 
Portfolio leads. 

 
 

Summary 
 
This Strategy provides an overarching set of principles for all enforcement carried out by 
the Council.  Separate enforcement policies determine specific approaches for individual 
areas of enforcement. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

Legal powers and duties referenced in the Strategy. 

 

Corporate Plan Objectives 
 

1. This report relates to a number of Corporate Plan objectives due to the way 
different enforcement activities aim to improve the environment, health and 
wellbeing and economy of the Borough.  

31

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Introduction 

2. Councillors have previously suggested a renewed policy approach to 
enforcement. Previous policy documents were out of date and insufficient to 
support a robust legal approach.  At the same time the Council’s Internal 
Auditors identified that the Council lacked an overarching enforcement 
strategy.  

Corporate Enforcement Principles 

3. The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory functions under various 
statutes, regulations and guidance.  Good practice and industry bodies 
suggest that such regulatory activity is carried out according to a set of 
principles that are most likely to result in sustainable positive results for the 
Borough’s residents and businesses. 

4. Councillors have signalled that a number of policy principles should be 
included: 

(a) Minimising delays to resolving enforcement cases. 

(b) Improved communication of activity and results of enforcement activity 
to promote confidence in the Council. 

(c) Increased enforcement in relation to development so that the supply of 
housing is increased but without negative impact on communities. 

5. Discussions with a range of internal stakeholders (Lead Specialists, Internal 
Audit, Local Area Manager (BHH) and the responsible Corporate Director) has 
led to an overarching Corporate Enforcement Strategy which includes both 
enforcement good practice principles and overall policy approaches set by 
Councillors.  Detailed approaches for specific areas of enforcement, including 
what the Council is and is not able to remedy by enforcement, should be 
articulated in bespoke policies for each area e.g. Planning Enforcement, 
Parking, Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) licencing, Noise nuisance etc. 
and reflected in annual operational service plans. 

6. Such policies will be kept under review or developed through discussions with 
relevant Cabinet members and key staff such that the approach aligns with 
this Strategy. 

Consultation feedback 

7. The Strategy was approved by Cabinet for public consultation on 24 October 
2019 and a consultation was held from 24 February 2020 to 6 April 2020.  

8. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel considered this draft Strategy on 22 
January 2020. The Panel commented that the Strategy should articulate more 
clearly the Council’s approach to pursuing enforcement action. It is important 
to note that the Strategy is intended as a set of guiding principles to ensure 
consistency and is not therefore expected to set out service standards or how 

32

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/7101/parking-policy-2020.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

enforcement action will be pursued in detail. This detail can be found in 
individual enforcement policies. 

9. The public consultation invited comments on the draft Strategy document 
itself, and also sought views on the Council’s approach to different types of 
enforcement. The consultation was published on the Council’s website and 
promoted directly to: taxi and private hire trade, alcohol and gambling 
consultees, the voluntary sector, Hampshire County Council, Southampton 
City Council, the Environment Agency, Natural England, West Hampshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, groups with protected characteristics, and 
Hampshire Police. There were 84 responses, including 8 from organisations 
(taxi firms, retailers, Police, community organisations). 

10. The consultation found that respondents were supportive of the following 
principles in the Strategy: 

Principle High or Very High 
importance - % 

Reference in 
the Strategy 

Telling residents and businesses more about the 
Council’s enforcement activity, to demonstrate our 
protection of individuals, businesses and the 
environment. 

79 Para 8, page 5 

Ensuring that there is a limit to the time given for 
people/businesses to comply with regulations. 

76 Para 1.4, page 
2 (amended) 

Joining forces with other agencies (e.g. the Police) 
where appropriate and necessary to achieve a 
successful outcome. 

72 Para 6.3, page 
4 

Managing carefully the role of any external 
enforcement agency the Council uses eg bailiffs. 

72 Para 1.12, page 
3 

Preventing the need for formal action in most cases 
by educating and working with people/businesses. 

72 Para 1.6, page 
2. Appendix B 

para 1  

Recovering any of the costs of enforcement that we 
can 

70 Appendix B,  
para 10 

Taking into account issues of diversity, disability and 
vulnerability when considering what enforcement 
action to take. 

64 Para 7 page 5 

 

11. In most respects the Strategy already reflects the support for these principles. 
An amendment to the Strategy is proposed (see amended text at Para 1.4 of 
the Appendix 1) to strengthen the principle about timeliness of enforcement 
action. 

12. Other amendments are minor corrections of errors or formatting in the draft or 
to bring the document up to date following the Council’s management 
restructure earlier this year. 

33



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

13. The areas where respondents most wanted the Council to be taking more 
action were: flytipping (85%), antisocial behaviour (84%), noise nuisance 
(62%), air and water pollution (61%). This feedback will be shared with service 
managers for their consideration.  

Financial Implications 

14. The attached Strategy has no financial implications; financial implications 
relating to specific areas of enforcement will be assessed during service 
planning and any proposals made for budgets at the relevant time. 

Risk Assessment 

15. The Council risks having its prosecutions and appeals challenged and having 
an incoherent approach to enforcement unless it adopts a set of guiding 
principles.  This Strategy demonstrates the Council’s commitment to fair 
enforcement and supports the Corporate Plan 2015-2025 objectives. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

16. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  Different enforcement 
activities may affect groups in different ways.   

17. An Equality Impact Assessment is attached to this report at Appendix 2. It 
shows that people with some protected characteristics are positively impacted 
by enforcement. The Strategy is clear (at Para 7 on page 5) that  enforcement 
duties apply across all groups, and that the Council will give appropriate 
consideration to its equalities duties in carrying out enforcement activity. 

Climate and Environment Emergency Implications 

18. There are no negative implications of this Strategy, which is designed to have 
positive impacts on the environment 

Conclusion 

19. The attached Strategy sets out the principles that will be applied in all of the 
Council’s Enforcement activity and is recommended for approval. 

DICCON BRIGHT 
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER 

Date: 4 October 2021 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright 
Tel No: 023 8068 8436 
e-mail: Diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Draft Corporate Enforcement Strategy – Appendix 1 
 Equality Impact Assessment - Appendix 2 
Report No  
 

34



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 

35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council 

 

Corporate Enforcement Strategy 2021-2024 

 

October 2021 

 

 

Version  4.0 final draft October 2021 

Author Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning 

Manager 

Date approved  

Approved by Cabinet 

Date to be reviewed by 3 years from approval date above 

Contents 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’ 

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES 

4 DECISION MAKING 

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS 

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 

7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 

RIGHTS 

8 PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS 

9 STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY 

 

APPENDIX A  AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST 

APPENDIX B  TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAILS 

 

 

 

 

 

37



Appendix 1 

2 
 

 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has duties and responsibilities 

delegated to it by Central Government.  Some of the duties involve 
regulation and enforcement of various laws designed to protect the health 
and well being of the residents, consumers and workers of the Borough, 
to support activities, and to protect the environment in which people work 
and live.  

1.2 Aside from statutory duties, enforcement activity supports the 
achievement of the Council’s vision and a number of objectives in the 
Corporate Plan 2015-2025: 
 
“To lead and support Eastleigh Borough and its communities: developing 
a strong and sustainable economy that supports improved standards of 
living for residents; promoting thriving and healthy communities; and 
maintaining an attractive and sustainable environment that residents 
value.” 

1.3 Relevant Corporate Plan objectives include Excellent Environment for All, 
Enabling Health and Wellbeing, Tackling Deprivation, Reinvigorating town 
and Local Centres and Local First; the Council will give due consideration 
to these objectives in designing its policies and carrying out its 
enforcement activity. 

1.4 The Council recognises the need for effective and timely enforcement of 
legislation. Each case should be looked at on its own merit and decisions 
of the enforcement action to take should be fair, consistent and 
proportionate. Policies will set out the time given for people/businesses to 
comply with regulations.  
 

1.5 This document has been prepared with regard to the current principal 
legislation and statutory guidance.  

 
1.6 This Strategy sets out the Council’s overarching approach to enforcement 

which seeks a balanced approach to minimise harms, promote wellbeing 
and prosperity and prevent breaches where possible.   
 

1.7 Specific enforcement policies for each service area will set out legislative 
and procedural details for Council staff to follow and provide guidance as 
appropriate for individuals and businesses being regulated. These 
policies will be published on our website as appropriate. 

 
1.8 By this document and relevant specific enforcement policies the Council 

intends to enable enforcement officers to interpret and apply relevant 
legal requirements and enforcement policies fairly and consistently. 
 

1.9 The Council undertakes enforcement activity in accordance with our 
statutory responsibilities on behalf of the public at large and not in the 

38



Appendix 1 

3 
 

interests of any particular individual, business or group.  
 

1.10 Commercialism 

 
1.11 The Council will seek to recover any costs it can through enforcement. 

(Details of recovery processes will be set out in individual enforcement 
policies.) 
 

1.12 The Council will consider carefully options to outsource enforcement 
activity to a commercial partner at this time. Where the Council uses 
outside agencies the Council will retain control and accountability for the 
way the service is delivered.  
 

 

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’ 

 
2.1 This Strategy applies to all the legislation enforced by staff of all 

regulatory and enforcement services of Eastleigh Borough Council. 

2.2 ‘Enforcement’ includes any informal or formal, criminal or civil action taken 
by officers aimed at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with 
the law.  The Council will ensure that its own enforcement officers 
interpret and apply their legal requirements and enforcement policies 
consistently and fairly. 
 

 

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES 

 
3.1 Our principles are informed by The Regulators’ Code which took effect on 

6 April 2014, the Enforcement Concordat, and the Guidance of the Better 
Regulation Delivery Office (BRDO) as to how to apply these documents. 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/1110
7.htm 

 
 

4 DECISION MAKING 

4.1 In all cases the Council will strive to ensure that enforcement decisions 
are always fair and consistent, and in compliance with statutory 
requirements and legal guidance. 

4.2 The decision to take formal enforcement action will be made by staff in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution.   

 

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS 

 
5.1 Once we have collected sufficient evidence to indicate an offence may 

have been committed and could lead to formal enforcement action we will 

39

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm


Appendix 1 

4 
 

notify the alleged offender as soon as is practicable of the position, 
unless this could impede an investigation or pose a safety risk to those 
concerned or the general public or where notification would defeat the 
purpose of the enforcement action. 
 

5.2 Personal data will only be used in accordance with the relevant data 
protection legislation.  Our Privacy Notices detailing how we use personal 
data may be found at https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy. 

 

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 

 
The Council prefers to secure compliance with legislation by a process of 
education and encouragement and will, wherever appropriate and 
possible, informally work with the resident or business to rectify breaches 
of legislation.  However, it will sometimes be necessary for more formal 
action to be taken.  

 
6.1 The main enforcement areas are listed at Appendix A with further detail 

given at Appendix B of this Strategy.  
 
 

6.2 Business operating in more than one local authority area 

Where a business operates in more than one Local Authority area and 
has entered into a formal Primary Authority Partnership with another local 
authority under The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 
(RES), the Council will, where required, comply with the agreement 
provisions for enforcement. 

 

6.3 Liaison and Partnership with other regulatory bodies and 

enforcement agencies 

The Council will, where appropriate, cooperate and coordinate with any 
relevant regulatory body and/or enforcement agencies that have a joint or 
complementary enforcement role to maximise the effectiveness of any 
enforcement and to ensure a consistent and coordinated approach.  
 
We will share intelligence with other enforcement agencies in accordance 
with relevant data protection legislation.  These bodies include - 

a) Government Agencies. 

b) Police Forces. 

c) Fire Authorities. 

d) Health agencies in the public sector 
e) Statutory undertakers. 

f) Other Local Authorities. 

 

7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 

40

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy


Appendix 1 

5 
 

RIGHTS 

The Council has a duty to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of 
opportunity and promote good relations between different people and 
groups.  The Council will give appropriate consideration to these duties in 
the way it carries out enforcement activity.  

The Council’s enforcement role and duties apply inclusively across all 
community groups and geographic neighbourhoods.  

Equality and Diversity issues will differ between different types of 
enforcement. Policies and Business Plans for specific enforcement areas 
will address possible specific equality impacts. 

 
 

8. PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS 

Whilst not a direct form of enforcement, staff may seek to raise 
awareness and increase compliance levels by publicising details of 
evidence of unlawful practice and any action taken. In respect of 
publicising prosecutions the Council will consider the guidance contained 
in ‘Publicising Sentencing Outcomes’. 

The Council encourages residents to play a role in solving problems in 
the community and residents should feel reassured that the Council will 
take the appropriate enforcement action where it is justified in doing so. 
The Council will publicise its enforcement activity from time to time as a 
way of informing and reassuring residents and demonstrating value for 
money.  

Where appropriate, services will communicate with parties that have 
made an enforcement service request or submitted a complaint, to 
feedback on action taken to resolve the enforcement issue. 

Many communities and stakeholders care about and identify with their 
local area (village, town, local centre) and many enforcement issues have 
a strong local community dimension.  Services will liaise with Local Area 
Managers and Parish/Town Councils to help inform the local significance 
of enforcement issues, agree appropriate local communications and 
funding, where appropriate. 

 

9. STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY 

This Strategy is intended to provide guidance for enforcement staff, 
businesses, consumers and the public. Each case will be considered on 
its own merits and circumstances having regard to this Strategy and local 
service policies and procedures. 

This Strategy will be the subject of consultation with other Hampshire 

41



Appendix 1 

6 
 

local authorities, statutory external agencies such as the Police and Fire 
and Rescue Service, local business organisations and representatives as 
well as public consultation on the Council website. 

 

This Strategy will be reviewed every three years by relevant Executive 
Heads.  It is proposed that the Chief Executive be authorised to 
reapprove the Strategy every three years and make minor amendments 
to the adopted Strategy as required.

42



Appendix 1 

7 

 

APPENDIX A  AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST 

 

Environment 
• Fly-tipping and enviro-crime (e.g. litter, flyposting, graffiti) 
• Untidy land 
• Noise and other statutory nuisance 
• Dog fouling/Dangerous Dogs/Stray dogs 
• Animal welfare and Tethered horses 
• Parking – on-street and off-street 
• Licensing 
• Abandoned vehicles 
• Air, land and water pollution 
• Pest control/public health  
• Waste carrier licences and waste transfer notes 
• High hedges 
• Unauthorised encampments 
• Food hygiene  
• Health and Safety at work 
• Infectious disease 
 

Health and Wellbeing 
• Private rented sector housing 
• Houses in multiple occupation (HMO) licencing 
• Empty dwellings 
• Caravan site licensing 
• Community safety/Anti-Social Behaviour 
• Smoking in public places  
• Public urination 

 
Housing and Development 

• Planning enforcement including Tree Preservation Orders 
• Building Control 
 

Economy  
• Council Tax and Business Rates collection 
• Licensing 
• Unauthorised leaflet distribution 

 
 
This is not an exhaustive list. Individual Service Areas will develop and keep under 
review bespoke enforcement policies to reflect their individual enforcement roles and 
responsibilities  

43



Appendix 1 

8 

 

APPENDIX B  TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAIL 

 

 

1   Prevention 
 

The first step in enforcement is to promote good practice, ensure policy compliance 
and prevent contravention of the law by raising awareness and promoting good 
practice. 

 

This approach will be applied when we are not aware of any specific contraventions of 
the law. 
 

 

2     Approvals, Consents and Licences 

We provide a range of approvals consents and licences as specified by individual 
pieces of legislation.   Most of these are compulsory, but a few are optional.  These are 
an important part of the preventative aspect of our work. 

 
We will work with applicants to help them to understand what is required to gain 
approval through pre-application advice, published guidelines, and post- application 
discussion. 
 
Applicants, or their agents, will always be notified, in writing, of the outcome of their 
application, including the reasons if rejected.  Details of any rights of appeal will be 
provided at the time the decision is notified. 

 
 
3     Informal Action 

If appropriate, we will endeavour to resolve situations without resorting to formal 
enforcement action. The Council will usually, but not in all cases, follow the principle 
of ‘graduated enforcement’ i.e. starting with a lower-level enforcement action, and 
building up to more formal types of enforcement such as prosecution if necessary. 
Individual enforcement policies will set out how this operates in each area of 
enforcement activity as necessary. 

 
Informal action may involve offering advice, mediation where appropriate, requests for 
action, or warnings, or seeking and monitoring the delivery of undertakings or 
timetabled schedules of action.  General advice will not necessarily be confirmed in 
writing.  Where more than the most minor contravention exists, we will confirm the 
situation in writing in a clear manner and explain why any recommendations are 
necessary and over what timescale they should be met.  When we write we will 
make sure that legal requirements are clearly distinguished from recommendations.  
Informal action will be supported throughout by contact between the customer and 
Council staff. 

 
This approach may be applied provided that the consequences of non- compliance are 
considered acceptable. 

 

 

4     Formal Action 

44



Appendix 1 

9 

 

Circumstances where formal action will be considered include (but are not restricted 
to): 

 
 There is a significant contravention of legislation 

 The wording of legislation requires the Council to take a specified action 

 An informal approach has failed 

 The   consequences   of   non-compliance, for health, safety, the environment, 
or other Council priorities, are unacceptable and/or immediate 

 Effective action needs to be taken quickly in order to remedy conditions which 
are deteriorating 

 Formal action is necessary to achieve the desired outcome without incurring 
expense or inconvenience that is disproportionate to the risks 

 A charge applied by a Fixed Penalty Notice has not been paid 

 
5     Statutory Notices 

Many of the various pieces of legislation that we enforce provide for the service of 

“statutory notices” on individuals, businesses and other organisations requiring them 

to meet specific legal obligations. 

 

Where a “statutory notice” is served, the method of appealing against the notice and 

the timescale for doing so will be provided in writing at the same time. In most 

cases, failure to comply with a “statutory notice” will result in more severe formal 

action being taken. 

 

6 Fixed  Penalty  Notices  and  Penalty  Charge  Notices  (Civil  & Criminal) 

These are notices that apply a penalty for specific matters.  

 

In general, a penalty notice will only be issued when: 

 

• there is sufficient evidence that an offence has been committed 

• an FPN is a proportionate response allowed for by the relevant legislation 

 

  A penalty notice will not be issued if: 

 

• there is no offence committed 

• enforcement action is inappropriate or would be disproportionate 

• prosecution is more suitable 
 

 

7    Work in Default 
 
In general, it is the responsibility of others to achieve compliance with the law.  In certain 
cases, the Council may undertake work to achieve compliance on behalf of others, and 
may seek a warrant to gain entry to land or premises to do so.    
 
In these cases, the Council’s costs will be recovered from the responsible person.  If the 
costs cannot be recovered, they will usually be placed as a charge against the property, 
to be recovered at a later date. 
 

45



Appendix 1 

10 

 

 
8    Cautions 
A simple caution may be issued as an alternative to a prosecution. Cautions may be 
issued to: 
 
• deal quickly and simply with less serious offences; 
• divert less serious offences away from the courts; or 
• reduce the chances of repeat offences. 
 
To safeguard the suspected offender's interests the following conditions will be fulfilled 
before a caution is administered: 
 
• there must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic prospect of conviction; and 
• the suspected offender must admit the offence; and 
• the suspected offender must understand the significance of a caution and give an 

informed consent to being cautioned. 
 
Where the offer of a caution is refused, a prosecution will generally be pursued. 
 
A central register of cautions administered will be maintained. 
 
9     Prosecution 
 

The Council recognises that the decision to prosecute is significant with potentially far 
reaching consequences on the individual or organisation concerned. The decision to 
prosecute is taken by the Borough’s Head of Legal Services.  

 

All relevant evidence and information will be considered before deciding upon a 
prosecution in order to enable a consistent, fair and objective decision to be made. 
The Council will have regard to the Code for Crown Prosecutors, and will consider 
whether: 

 
 there is sufficient standard evidence for there to be a realistic prospect of 

conviction; and 
 the prosecution is in the public interest; 

 
In deciding whether to prosecute, the Council will make an overall assessment based 
on the individual circumstances of each case. 

 
Where there has been a breach of the law leading to a work-related death, the Council 
will liaise with the Police, Coroner, Health and Safety Executive and the Crown 
Prosecution Service, as appropriate 

 
10  Proceeds of Crime 

 
Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002. The Proceeds of Crime Act allows Local Authorities to recover assets that have 
been accrued through criminal activity. 

46



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  

Title of EqIA: Corporate Enforcement Strategy 

Brief description of the 
Proposal: 

An overarching approach and guiding principles for all Council 
enforcement activity to follow. 

Assessment: 

Enforcement activity benefits all residents that might be affected by breaches of the law or 
regulations. The consultation asked respondents to comment on equalities issues. 
Comments were received expressing the need for fair application of enforcement measures 
for everyone, with protected characteristics not being a reason for people to break the law. 
One respondent suggested people lacking money or capacity should be given some support.  

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
with protected characteristics.  

Age: None identified. Young people and younger working age adults 
were underrepresented in the consultation responses. 

Disability: No negative impact identified. People with certain conditions 
will be particularly positively impacted by enforcement of air 
and noise pollution. People reliant on public transport will 
benefit from good regulation of taxi and private hire vehicles.  

Gender: None identified. 

Gender reassignment: None identified 

  

47



Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

None identified 

Race: Gypsies, Roma and Travellers may be disproportionately 
affected by enforcement of unauthorised encampments.  

The Council is clear that enforcement is taken against the 
activity (illegal encampment) and not due to the protected 
characteristic itself. The Council works with other agencies 
(Hampshire County Council) to address any welfare issues 
relating to illegal encampments.   

Religion or belief: None identified 

Sexual Orientation: None identified 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

None identified 

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 
people experiencing social deprivation. 

Social deprivation: Council Tax collection enforcement measures are likely to 
affect some people experiencing deprivation. One respondent 
indicated the economic hardship faced by some taxi drivers. 
 

The Council has a duty to regulate the taxis and private hire 
trade and has robust governance arrangements in place. 

Housing and pollution enforcement can entail positive actions 
to ensure better living conditions for deprived households. 

What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out? 

Consultation was promoted to groups with protected 
characteristics 

What could reduce 
any adverse impact on 

None required. The Strategy requires staff to give appropriate 
consideration to equality duties in the way it carries out 

48



these groups? enforcement activity.   

 

Action Plan  

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

    

    

 

Lead Officer: Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning Manager 

Manager: Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning Manager 

Corporate Director: Natalie Wigman [sign-off tbc] 

Date completed: 26/8/21 

 

 

49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Town Centre Principles
	Regeneration of Eastleigh Town Centre - Appendix 1

	7 Corporate Enforcement Strategy
	Corporate Enforcement Strategy App 1
	Corporate Enforcement Strategy App 2


